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        Winner of the 2014 GAA McNamee Award for Best GAA Publication
      

            ‘The book of the year in terms of sports books … So well-written … I can’t imagine too many better non-fiction books have been released this year in any genre.’ Tommy Martin on TV3’s Ireland AM

            ‘Truly brilliant.’ Balls.ie

            ‘A must-read for both GAA and Irish history buffs … Foley’s book is one that will be read for years to come, by both sports fans and history scholars.’ Mayo Advertiser

            ‘Brilliant read.’ Jacqui Hurley, RTÉ Radio 1’s Sunday Sport

            ‘A thought-provoking, superbly-constructed reflection on a dark day in the nation’s history.’ Wexford People

            ‘A testament to the brilliance of Michael Foley, one of our best sportswriters.’

Paul Kimmage on RTÉ Radio 1’s Today with Sean O’Rourke (Sports Books of the Year)

            ‘A rich book. It has soul and a beating heart and it stands alone as an astonishing, affecting piece of work.’ Belfast Telegraph

            ‘A page-turner from the very start … The most important Irish sports book ever written.’ Limerick Leader
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            About Kings of September

Winner of the 2007 BoyleSports Irish Sports Book of the Year

            ‘Every so often a book comes along, in any genre, that leaves you wishing there was more as you reach the end. This is one of them … Great read. Great book.’ Leinster Express

            ‘I don’t think I have ever read a better book on Gaelic games … the finest book on Kerry’s golden era … compelling.’ Liam Horan, The Athlone Voice

            ‘An excellent re-telling of arguably the most unforgettable moment in GAA history.’ The Kerryman

            ‘One of the finest GAA books ever written. The reason for this is simple: Michael Foley … magnificent.’ Limerick Leader

            ‘Foley’s writing is sublime … this is as good as GAA books get.’ Mayo News

            ‘A masterpiece.’ Irish Examiner

            ‘A deserving winner of the BoyleSports award.’ Sunday Tribune

            About Harte: Presence Is the Only Thing

            ‘[Foley’s] intriguing account of the tragedies and triumphs that have visited a generation of Red Hand footballers makes for fascinating reading.’ The Irish Times
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            Author’s Note

         

         This account of the events leading up to the incidents at Croke Park on Bloody Sunday, the subsequent deaths, inquiries and political fallout is based heavily on the evidence supplied to the courts of military inquiry at the Jervis Street and Mater hospitals in the weeks immediately after Bloody Sunday, the autopsy reports therein and first-hand testimonies from relatives of the dead recorded in November–December 1920. These documents were kept from public view until 2003, but offer a dramatically graphic account of the events at Croke Park.

         I have also utilised first-hand accounts supplied to the Irish Bureau of Military History between 1947 and 1957 by 1,773 veterans of the revolutionary period in Ireland from 1913 to 1921, accounts from players including Frank Burke and Paddy McDonnell of Dublin and Tipperary’s Bill Ryan and Tommy Ryan, and contemporary newspaper accounts spanning the UK and Ireland.

         The chapter dealing with the findings of the courts of military inquiry also leans heavily on the outstanding work of Professor David Leeson, whose piece ‘Death in the Afternoon: The Croke Park Massacre, 21 November 1920’, published in the Canadian Journal of History, Volume 38, is a landmark work in the modern investigations into the events at Croke Park.

         I have tried to avoid all fiction, save for reconstruction of some conversations based on recollections of those involved, cross-referenced 8with other contemporary and historical accounts. Where recollections have differed sharply, and they often did, I have tried to apply Occam’s razor – that the simplest explanation with the fewest assumptions is most likely the truth – but endeavoured at all times to respect every side of a tense, complex conflict.

         I would like to thank in particular the relatives of the Bloody Sunday dead who shared their knowledge and time: Michael Hogan, Grangemockler, County Tipperary; Michael Nelson (Joe Traynor), Dublin; Frank Robinson (William Robinson), Dublin; and Alec Ryan (Tom Ryan), Glenbrien, County Wexford. Thanks also to Mick Egan, nephew of Tipperary player Jim Egan, and to Tony Synnott, son of Stephen Synnott, Dublin.

         Thanks to Noel Collins, Kilmallock, County Limerick, for his assistance on the life of Tom Hogan, to Alice Speidel-Hall for her help in researching Speidel’s Butchers on Talbot Street, Dublin, to depict work in a butcher’s shop of that era, and the Irish Jewish Museum, Dublin, for their assistance in reconstructing the streets of Jane Boyle’s youth around Portobello and Lennox Street.

         Special thanks to Christopher Hill, Brian Taylor and Peter and Judith Simon, Australia, for their extraordinary help and generosity in researching the life of George Vernon Dudley. To Jim Herlihy, whose work in recording the history of the RIC and other Irish police forces will prove an invaluable historical resource for decades to come, to Mick Dolan and Robert Reid, South Tipperary Military History Society, Michael Moroney, Fethard, and John Hassett, Third Tipperary Brigade Old IRA Commemoration Committee.

         Thanks also to Mark Reynolds at the GAA Museum, John Costello, Dublin GAA County Board, Willie Nolan, and the staffs 9at the National Library of Ireland, Dublin, Pearse Street Library, Dublin, the National Archives, Kew, London, and the British Library of Newspapers, London.

         A special word of gratitude to Peter Keogh for an insightful trip to Luke O’Toole’s homeplace in Wicklow, Ann-Marie Smyth at Glasnevin cemetery and Jim Langton of the Michael Collins 22 Society who assisted in sourcing pictures and made a trip to Glasnevin a far less stressful ordeal than it promised to be and immeasurably more fruitful.

         A special word of gratitude to all at O’Brien Press, to Nicola Reddy and to Íde ní Laoghaire, in particular, whose patience and attention to detail helped bring a long, difficult project to fruition. Thanks also to Lorcan Collins, Las Fallon and Niall Bergin for terrific work on the picture research.

         Thanks, finally, to work colleagues, family and friends for listening to interminable stories from another century and in particular to my wife, Karen, for her unceasing love and support.

         
             

         

         In the years since the book was first published in 2014, I’ve been privileged to meet so many relatives of the victims. Profound thanks to them all for their kind words and support but particular mention to Terry Dignan, Frances Ryan, Mary and Pat Fitzgerald, Mary Flynn, Martin Lynch, Nancy Dillon, Kay Moore and Kathleen Buggle (daughter of Nancy) and the extended Mathews family. Also to Louise Hogan, Liam Dinneen, Karina Leeson, Richard Boyle-Staveley, Stephen Brennan, Niall Feery and the extended Feery family. Thanks also to those families who provided pictures of the Bloody Sunday victims for this updated edition, to 10Colm O’Flaherty (Cahir) for his help in sourcing pictures of the Tipperary teams of the era, and to the National Library of Ireland for other new additions.

         Thanks to the GAA for their continuing support around various Bloody Sunday-related initiatives and a special word of gratitude to Cian Murphy in the GAA press office, a passionate supporter and instigator of the Bloody Sunday Graves Project and a tireless advocate for the Bloody Sunday story and families.

         Thanks also to Julianne McKeigue, Niamh McCoy and Joanne Clarke at the GAA Museum, members of the Grangemockler and Tipperary GAA Bloody Sunday centenary committees, and the GAA History and Commemoration Committee. In conclusion, a special and heartfelt thanks to Emer Ryan at O’Brien Press for her patient work helping bring to fruition this updated version of the book.
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            Names and Acronyms

         

         
            Auxiliary Division of the RIC (Auxiliaries/ADRIC): an additional police force recruited among ex-service officers, designed to become the officer corps of the RIC. Established in July 1920

            Black and Tans: an additional force recruited to reinforce RIC numbers from March 1920

            Cumann na mBan: Irish republican women’s organisation, established in April 1914

            Dáil: unofficial Irish parliament formed by absentee MPs (from Westminster) on 19 January 1919

            Dublin Metropolitan Police (DMP): police force for Dublin city and suburbs

            Gaelic Athletic Association (GAA): sports organisation founded in 1884 governing Gaelic football, hurling, athletics and rounders

            Gaelic League: organisation founded in 1893 as part of the Gaelic revival to promote the Irish language

            Irish Parliamentary Party: Irish nationalist party in the House of Commons, Westminster

            Irish Republican Army (IRA): a new term for the Irish Volunteers, in use from January 1919 14

            Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB): a secret, oath-bound fraternity formed in 1858, devoted to promoting Irish republicanism

            Irish Volunteers: armed nationalist movement formed in 1913

            Royal Irish Constabulary (RIC): partly armed police force, established in Ireland in 1822

            Sinn Féin: Irish republican party, founded 1905. The largest party in the 1919 Dáil

            Ulster Volunteers: armed pro-union movement formed in 1913

            PLACE NAMES

            Gloucester Street: now Sean McDermott Street, Dublin

            Hill 60: original name for Hill 16, the famous bank of terracing in Croke Park

            Kingsbridge Station: now Heuston Station, Dublin

            Maryborough: now Portlaoise, County Laois

            Queenstown: now Cobh, County Cork

            Rhodesia: now Zimbabwe

            Sackville Street: now O’Connell Street, Dublin
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            Cast of Principal Characters

         

         
            THE POLITICIANS AND MILITARY

            Winston Churchill – British Minister of Munitions, Secretary of State for War

            Sir John French – Lord Lieutenant of Ireland

            David Lloyd George – British Prime Minister

            Sir Hamar Greenwood – Chief Secretary for Ireland

            General Sir Nevil Macready – Commander in Chief of the Armed Forces in Ireland

            Major EL Mills – Commanding Officer, Auxiliary force at Croke Park

            Éamon de Valera – leader of Sinn Féin

            Field Marshal Sir Henry Wilson – British Army Chief of Staff

            THE IRA

            Dan Breen – Quartermaster, Third Tipperary Brigade

            Patrick Butler – Commanding Officer, C Company, 8th Battalion, Third Tipperary Brigade

            Dan Hogan – Vice-Commandant, Monaghan Brigade, Monaghan footballer, brother of Michael Hogan

            Sean Hogan – Volunteer, Third Tipperary Brigade 16

            Seamus Robinson – Commandant, Third Tipperary Brigade

            Sean Treacy – Vice-Commandant, Third Tipperary Brigade

            Harry Colley – Adjutant, Dublin Brigade

            Michael Collins – Director of Intelligence, President of the Irish

            Republican Brotherhood, Dáil Minister for Finance

            Richard Mulcahy – Chief of Staff, Dáil Minister for Defence

            Sean Russell – Director of Munitions

            
                

            

            Vinny Byrne – Squad member

            Joe Dolan – Squad member

            Tom Keogh – Squad member

            Joe Leonard – Squad member

            Dan McDonnell – Squad member

            Paddy O’Daly – Leader of the Squad

            Phil Shanahan – IRA Volunteer, Dublin publican

            THE GAA

            Luke O’Toole – Secretary General

            Jack Shouldice – Leinster Council secretary

            Frank ‘Scout’ Butler – Tipperary goalkeeper

            Michael (Mick) Hogan – Tipperary defender, IRA member

            Ned O’Shea – Tipperary captain and defender

            Jerry Shelly – Tipperary defender

            Bill Ryan – Tipperary defender

            Tommy Ryan – Tipperary centrefielder, IRA member

            Gus McCarthy – Tipperary forward

            Johnny McDonnell – Dublin goalkeeper, IRA member

            Paddy McDonnell – Dublin defender 17

            Stephen Synnott – Dublin defender

            Frank Burke – Dublin forward

            THE SPECTATORS AT CRO KE PARK

            
               
                  

	Jane Boyle
            
                           
                           	James Mathews



	Monsignor Maurice Browne
            
                           
                           	Patrick O’Dowd



	Daniel Byron
            
                           
                           	Jerome O’Leary



	Daniel Carroll
            
                           
                           	William (Perry) Robinson



	Michael Feery
            
                           
                           	Tom Ryan



	Thomas (Tom) Hogan
            
                           
                           	John William (Billy) Scott



	Mick Kerrigan
            
                           
                           	James Teehan






            

            THE POLICE

            Brigadier-General FP Crozier – Commander in Chief of the Auxiliaries

            Major George Vernon Dudley – Commanding Officer, Black and Tan force at Croke Park

            Roland Knight – Temporary Cadet, Auxiliary Division

            Sir Henry Hugh Tudor – Police Advisor to Dublin Castle

            Brigadier-General Sir Ormonde Winter – Chief of British Army Intelligence, Deputy Chief of Police

            GRANGEMOCKLER

            John Browne – friend of Michael Hogan

            Kate Browne – wife of Maurice, mother of John and Monsignor Maurice

            Master Maurice Browne – schoolteacher 18

            THE TEAMS

            
                

            

            DUBLIN

            
               1      Johnny McDonnell (O’Tooles)

               2      Patrick Hughes (Keatings)

               3      Patrick Carey (O’Tooles)

               4      William Robbins (O’Tooles)

               5      Josie Synnott (O’Tooles)

               6      Christy Joyce (Parnells)

               7      Jack Reilly (O’Tooles)

               8      William Donovan (Kickhams)

               9      John Murphy (Keatings)

               10    Frank O’Brien (Keatings)

               11    Paddy McDonnell (O’Tooles): captain

               12    Jack Carey (O’Tooles)

               13    John Synnott (O’Tooles)

               14    Stephen Synnott (O’Tooles)

               15    Frank Burke (UCD)

               
                   

               

               Substitutes

               Gerry Doyle (Geraldines)

               Tom Carey (O’Tooles)

               Joe Norris (O’Tooles)

               Joe Joyce (Parnells)

               Tom Fitzgerald (O’Tooles) 19

            

            TIPPERARY

            
               1      Frank ‘Scout’ Butler (Fethard)

               2      Mick Hogan (Grangemockler)

               3      Ned O’Shea (Fethard): captain

               4      Jerry Shelly (Grangemockler)

               5      Bill Ryan (Loughmore-Castleiney)

               6      Jim Egan (Mullinahone)

               7      Tommy Powell (Clonmel)

               8      Tommy Ryan (Castlegrace)

               9      Jim Ryan (Loughmore-Castleiney)

               10    Bill Barrett (Mullinahone)

               11    Jimmy McNamara (Cahir)

               12    Jimmy Doran (Mullinahone)

               13    Gus McCarthy (Fethard)

               14    Jack Kickham (Mullinahone)

               15    Jackie Brett (Mullinahone)

               
                   

               

               Substitutes

               Dick Lanigan (Grangemockler)

               Tommy O’Connor (Castlegrace)

               Mick Nolan (Mullinahone) 20
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            Prologue

         

         SUNDAY, 24 JULY 2016

         On a bright, gentle afternoon in Dublin, the tables in the garden of Kathleen Buggle’s house in Blanchardstown are heaving with food and drinks, the air alive with a happy jumble of chats and laughter. Kathleen’s mother, Nancy Dillon, is singing songs and remembering stories. Everyone is smiling, soaking up every moment.

         There are Dillons and Mathews gathered here, Buggles, Lynches, Moores and names from every branch of a broad family tree. For years, the family was clustered around a web of streets in Dublin’s inner city. Then the tenement flats were pulled down and families exiled to different parts of the countryside long since consumed by the city. Some lost touch down the decades. Others have never met before. But now they’re together, remembering old stories and people.

         Nancy and Kathleen and Kay Moore, Nancy’s first cousin, can remember the confusion about their surname. Mathews, not Matthews, pronounced ‘Mathis’. Like Johnny. Nancy is ninety-five now, all her memories blended together like one unbroken stream of consciousness.

         She remembers being reared at 32 North Cumberland Street. She remembers her mother working as a fish dealer in the markets on Parnell Street, giving her fish to bring home. There was the old 22dinner house on Cumberland Street where Nancy would get a mug of tea and a piece of bread before school.

         She remembers the sound of cartwheels being pulled over cobbles and horses being taken into their stables. There was the man across the road who had a bakery. Another man down the road owned the coal shop. Sometimes the water in the tenement didn’t run right and needed fixing. She saw rats picking over old cabbage leaves. She remembers the pubs, so many pubs. Sawdust on the floors. The drinking. The fighting.

         She thought of her own working life in the kitchens that powered the grand hotels of Dublin. There was Wynn’s on Lower Abbey Street and the Gresham on O’Connell Street; the Shelbourne on St Stephen’s Green. She saw Elizabeth Taylor emerge from a car one day. There was the day in 1963 she saw President Kennedy’s motorcade sweep through O’Connell Street, Jackie sitting beside him. ‘She was a slight little one,’ Nancy says.

         She saw Roy Rogers once, the famous old cowboy. She used to peek through the curtains to watch the old fashion shows held in the hotels. One day at the Gresham, the Beatles burst into the kitchen. ‘I was in the back, washing pots,’ she says. ‘And the door opens and the Beatles come in. Young fellas in black and the place was packed with people.’

         The telling of Nancy’s life is like an endless reel of memory clipped together in her mind’s eye, events overlapping and repeating in vivid Technicolor. When she was a child, her mother once brought her out of the city to pick shamrock. A little boy fell into a sinkhole too small for any adult to squeeze down to rescue him. Someone took Nancy by the ankles and dropped her down to pull him out. 23She remembers her mother setting out at dawn for Howth harbour, collecting fish. Her father James was a labourer. She remembers he worked on the docks, but she doesn’t remember him. She never knew him. Never met him. Her memory is a lovely picture of him at home, and the tears her mother cried.

         Scraps of the same story about her father were shared out across the family like relics. On 21 November 1920, James Mathews left home to meet a friend who lived around the corner. ‘My father was going for a walk with his friend,’ says Nancy. ‘I don’t know which of them said, “Come on, we’ll go up and have a look at the match.” All through till I was ten, I heard all that.’

         Dublin were playing Tipperary in a football match at Croke Park. James stopped at his mother’s house on the way. ‘He just put his head around the door and said goodbye,’ says Kay Moore. ‘A funny thing, she said, when they came to tell her that he’d been injured or something, she knew before they told her. She felt that last goodbye. That’s what she remembered about her son. She said he went to the match and never came back.’

         When the firing started in Croke Park that afternoon, James made for the seven-foot high wall that separated Croke Park from the Belvedere College sports grounds. ‘It was only when I became a woman that I realised my father was shot,’ says Nancy. ‘He was blown off the wall. But the other man got over. He got away.’

         Her father’s body was found near the wall with a bullet wound in his leg. The Pro-Cathedral in the centre of Dublin was filled for the funeral. James’s wife, Kate, was left to rear their two daughters, Mary and Ellen. She was six months pregnant with Nancy. They took James to Glasnevin cemetery and laid him to rest. 24

         Then the family was left alone to manage their own grief. Nancy was born in 1921. At one point, there was talk of placing Nancy in an orphanage. ‘My mother said no,’ says Nancy. ‘I won’t put her there. I’ll rear my own child.’

         A gravestone was never erected for her father. Like many families during the War of Independence and the Civil War that followed, the family carried their grief over James closely and privately. No one spoke of what happened, but the sadness lingered in Kate, slowly draining her. ‘After the death, she couldn’t stay in the house or anything,’ says Nancy. ‘I don’t know. I hadn’t the sense what she was crying about. I didn’t know what tragedy was.

         ‘I don’t think she ever got over it. When she’d cry, I’d cry. That’s all I know about it.’

         His death rippled through the family in different ways. In time, Kay Moore’s family moved to a house alongside Croke Park. ‘My brothers were never in it. I was never in it because it was taboo. I didn’t know. I just knew you didn’t go into Croke Park. We lived in the shadow of (Croke Park). But we never wished to go. Just didn’t. Bad memories.’

         James Mathews’s mother lived with Kay’s family when she got older. One of the boys was named James in his uncle’s memory. As the years drew on, Kay eased enough reminiscences of James from her grandmother to sketch an outline.

         ‘He was soft and easy going,’ says Kay. ‘He adored his daughters and he was really soft with the kids. He did work for Kennedy’s Bakery on Parnell Street; they were very kind to my granny when he died.

         ‘She never really condemned what happened. He was just in the wrong place at the wrong time and it was God’s will. She took to 25her prayer book really. But there was a sadness. He was her only son and she missed him.’

         As Nancy got older, the impact of losing her father revealed itself in different ways. Years later, her mother sent her with a letter to deliver to a place past the Mansion House on Dawson Street, with warnings to mind the buses and trams and to return with money. ‘My mam told me that when she was young,’ says Kathleen, Nancy’s daughter. ‘“You’re off to get the blood money because your father was shot.”’

         ‘Ah, yeah,’ says Nancy. ‘“Sure yous have plenty of money. Yous got the blood money.” I don’t know how many times they said that. They didn’t know what they were saying. We had to live on something.’

         No one was ever sure where the money came from. Nancy remembers getting £10 and spending some of her share on a coat, a pair of shoes and a bag. The help it gave them was temporary.

         Kate struggled. She drank a lot, then got sober. There was a priest on Gardiner Street who was good to her, says Nancy. Then she drank again. In the end, she fell from a balcony in the flats. Some thought it might have been suicide. Everyone felt the grief helped to kill her. ‘It was through the hardness she went through after (her husband’s death),’ says Kathleen. ‘They had no counselling or anything that time. It’s only now I realise what a time they had. It affected my mother and her two sisters. They both used suffer badly with depression. Very badly through the years.’

         In the battle to keep moving forward, memories got buried. No one asked. Eventually no one knew apart from those reared on the stories and those who saw the sadness.

         ‘They kept a silent grief,’ says Kay Moore. ‘That’s how it was.’ 26AFTER THE VICTIMS were buried, the story of the fourteen people massacred at Croke Park was reduced in the national memory to a short footnote added to the attacks by the IRA squads that morning on British agents across the city. When the victims were forgotten, the story inevitably got mixed up in the telling.

         Fourteen people were killed, but even that number got blurred down the years. Some of the victims’ names were lost or distorted. The game itself, a challenge game between Dublin and Tipperary, was elevated to an All-Ireland football final. Stories were diluted and lost even though the mark left by Bloody Sunday on people and places endured.

         Dig back down and brush the dust away from them, and the stories of the victims themselves ultimately reveal the true complexity of Bloody Sunday. They represented a vast mix of people and personalities. One was a bar owner. Another was a van driver. Some were labourers. One worked in a butcher’s shop. There was a farmer and a bar manager, a mechanic and an employee of the gas company.

         The youngest victim was ten years-old. The oldest was nearly sixty. A woman and three children were killed. Four of the victims were IRA Volunteers. Michael Feery died in his old British Army fatigues. His son would serve three decades later in the north African desert during the Second World War. As bullets whizzed across the ground and people clambered for safety, Patrick O’Dowd paused on top of the seven-foot high wall separating Croke Park from the Belvedere College sports grounds to pull people over to the other side. The last man he saved was a soldier.

         The stories stretched from the severe poverty of the tenements to the struggles of rural life and the relative comfort of the middle 27classes. A century later, the details were scattered across autopsy reports, census returns, certificates for births, deaths and marriages, a few lines buried in the newspapers, and the occasional recollection by old friends and comrades, hidden in various books, documents and statements.

         The stories were incomplete but all of the pieces fitted together like a mosaic, gradually revealing a picture of depth and detail. Those pictures continue to evolve. Since this book was first published in 2014, the extraordinary story of Tom Ryan has unfolded even further, revealing him as an IRA volunteer immersed in the morning attacks before heading for Bloody Sunday. In 2019, a pair of bloodstained glasses was donated to the GAA museum in Croke Park, with an account of the extraordinary story of Annie Burke that provided more detail on the clusters of people who, in the moments after he was killed on the field, cared for the body of Tipperary player Mick Hogan.

         For years, Tom Hogan’s family cherished an old picture and a letter written by a nurse caring for Tom as he held on for the last few days of his life. They also preserved their stories of an unsinkable IRA family from Limerick.

         His sister Maggie’s 1953 application to the state for an army pension, claiming that Tom had been killed while an active member of the IRA, describes a young man apprenticed as a carpenter who moved to Dublin in June 1920 to the house of Mrs Forrester in Dolphin’s Barn and ended up working in a motor works. When Hogan died, the old Rapparees hurling club in Dublin delivered a vote of sympathy. A note in the application from Michael O’Cleary, an IRA commander in Limerick, recalled 28the Hogan house in Limerick as an IRA house. ‘In fact,’ he wrote, ‘they were eaten out of house and home.’

         Maggie’s application was rejected. So was an application by Mary Ryan, Tom Ryan’s wife. For decades, many of the Bloody Sunday dead were faceless and unknowable to the wider public, but their families curated pictures carefully through the decades and generations. Some of those are collected here.

         Every family forged different connections to their own story. Some recalled elderly relatives who loved and remembered the dead, telling their stories to new generations to keep alive their memory even as the flame flickered and nearly went out. In 2014, eight of the victims lay in graves without headstones. The whereabouts of some of the locations had been lost to memory.

         In some cases, families couldn’t afford a gravestone in 1920. Others were worried about possible reprisals from police and military forces if their family was linked to the Bloody Sunday deaths. Some wanted to wait until the conflict had ended to remember their dead in their own way in a free Ireland. But generations passed and life intruded with new problems.

         Finishing that part of the story offered another opportunity in the last decade to reconnect with the Bloody Sunday dead. Before that could happen, the GAA itself needed to make sense of its own disconnection with the impact of Bloody Sunday.

         Instead of pausing in 1920 to remember the dead or figure out the impact that still rippled out during the painful formation of a new nation, the GAA scarcely mentioned them at all. Memorial plaques carried the wrong names and details about the dead. Naming the Hogan Stand at Croke Park in 1926 after Mick Hogan was a grand 29gesture of commemoration, but everyone else faded helplessly into the background.

         Instead of remembering the dead and holding their loved ones close, the Bloody Sunday killings became tools of politics and propaganda. In 1931, during a dispute between the local GAA and soccer communities, the chairman of the Waterford County Board invoked the massacre at Croke Park as an expression of the GAA’s purity as an expression of Irishness. He observed that the police and military hadn’t gone to Dalymount Park or Lansdowne Road to inflict the greatest impact. They went to Croke Park where they ‘performed deeds that shocked the civilised world. They knew friend from foe, and it was an unfailing experience. The Tans did not run into men like the directors and players of Waterford soccer club.’

         
            
[image: ]Former Tipperary players and relations commemorate Bloody Sunday in Croke Park in the 1960s; includes Mick Tobin (Grangemockler, 2nd left), Tommy Ryan (3rd left), Jim Ryan (Loughmore, 3rd right), Paddy Hogan (brother of Michael, 2nd right).

            

         

         30As the new Irish Free State took shape during the 1920s, Croke Park was recast as martyrs’ ground, the blood spilled there sanctifying the GAA’s position as the pre-eminent Irish sporting organisation and a key pillar supporting a new Ireland. Away from all that noise, eight of the victims lay silently in unmarked graves for nearly a century, their names and stories almost forgotten.

         Some families were frustrated by their attempts down the years to contact the GAA with their stories. Others felt alienated. Angry. Helping families finally to reclaim those stories allowed the GAA process its own unresolved grief.

         On the morning of the ninety-fifth anniversary of Bloody Sunday, in 2015, the extended family of Jane Boyle came from across the globe and gathered at Glasnevin cemetery to unveil a gravestone in her memory. Her nephew, Richard Boyle-Staveley, recalled how his family always bought their meat at Olhausen’s, the same butcher’s shop where Jane used to work. He also remembered how the British authorities told the family that Jane had been trampled to death. When they got home and unfolded the clothes she was killed in, they held her coat up to the window and saw light seeping through a bullet hole.

         That night in Croke Park, fourteen flames in memory of the victims were lit on Hill 16 at half-time in an International Rules game between Ireland and Australia. The GAA had helped to fund the gravestone. That gesture opened the way for the GAA’s Bloody Sunday Graves Project, offering assistance and support to other families who wished to erect gravestones to remember their relatives. 31

         
            
[image: ]Fourteen torches lit in memory of the Bloody Sunday victims before an International Rules game between Ireland and Australia at Croke Park on the 95th anniversary of the massacre, November 2015.

            

         

         On a bright January day in 2020, a group of people filtered into a function room at Croke Park, overlooking the same railway wall where the Tipperary team were gathered by the police after the shooting had stopped. Twelve families of the fourteen victims were gathered for the first time nearly 100 years after the death of their relatives.

         It was a day to remake connections and forge new ones. Two branches of the Feery family met for the first time. Michael Nelson, a relative of Joe Traynor, met Eric Fleming, a relative of Michael Feery years since they had faced each other across a table in the middle of a strike.

         Some of them gathered email addresses and phone numbers. 32They told stories they had waited years to share. Frances Ryan, granddaughter of Tom Ryan, recalled her grandmother’s visit to the hospital. Tom’s wounds were so bad it hadn’t been possible to remove his clothes. He lay there, drifting in and out of consciousness, whispering to her with his last ounces of strength. He died that night. She came home and told how he had crawled to Mick Hogan and whispered a prayer in his ear, the truth of his story more extraordinary than myth.

         Mary Fitzgerald remembered her great-granduncle, Tom Hogan, the young IRA man from Limerick. She told how Tom’s coat was brought home to Limerick and cleaned, the bullet hole in the shoulder of the jacket carefully stitched by his sister. All these stories pent up and almost half-forgotten down the years. Finally people were listening.

         
             

         

         ON 12 AUGUST 2016, the Mathews family gathered again at a quiet part of Glasnevin cemetery to unveil a headstone. A small picture of James with moustache and wearing a flat cap was embedded into the headstone. Sitting in a wheelchair, Nancy laid a wreath at her father’s grave. Photographers bunched in to take pictures. A television reporter asked her to recall her father. ‘It was my mammy told me my father was killed,’ she said. ‘Then I found out he was killed in Croke Park.’

         Nancy died two years later, on 22 July 2018. She is buried within sight of her father’s grave, her own life a testament to the strength of her spirit. She lived on to rear a family. She lived to see great people and wonderful things. Her growing family, gathered in a house nearly a century later to remember, was tribute to her 33resilience. Her story is the Bloody Sunday story: families unbroken by tragedy, all the hurt and despair and love for those lost protected through the century, their beacons unquenchable in the darkness.

         
            
[image: ]Nancy Dillon, daughter of James Mathews, at the unveiling in August 2016 of a gravestone for her father. Eight Bloody Sunday victims lay in unmarked graves since 1920.

            

         

         Michael Foley, February 2020

      

   


   
      
         
34
            The Invisible War

         

         SUNDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 1920

         The day began under a crisp autumn sun in the heart of a sleeping city. Johnny McDonnell, Willie Maher and Michael Lawless met after eight o’clock in front of O’Tooles GAA club on Seville Place near Sackville Street and hurried to the docks. They crossed the River Liffey by boat and walked to Dunlop House, a giant redbrick building at the corner of Westland Row and Denzille Street. Sean Daly was already there. Herbie Conroy was with him, holding a sledgehammer underneath his coat. Then came Tom Ennis, the senior IRA man among them. McDonnell and the others also knew Ennis from O’Tooles. Years before the IRA made different men of them, football and O’Tooles was the bond that first brought them together.

         Some Sundays they went to see Johnny play in goals for Dublin. The rest of the country knew Johnny from the newspaper pictures as ‘the man in the hat’, famed for keeping his peaked cap on during games to shield his eyes from the sun. His brother, Paddy, was an even bigger star. They were all neighbours and friends, teammates and family before they became comrades. Before they went 35any further, Ennis reminded them why they were here. Today they were members of E Company, Second Battalion of the Dublin IRA. They headed for Upper Mount Street to kill a pair of spies.

         The city was quiet. Newspaper boys on the street corners prepared their bundles as McDonnell and the others walked past. It was nearly nine o’clock. After a month of careful reconnaissance and planning, groups of IRA men across the city were on the move. As the IRA’s Director of Intelligence and the organisation’s most compelling driving force, this was Michael Collins’s great project: a swift, brutal strike at the heart of the British intelligence service in Dublin.

         Between July 1919 and May 1920 alone, his Squad had killed four Dublin Metropolitan Police (DMP) constables, six detectives and an Assistant Commissioner. The British authorities had reacted with ferocity. They hunted and cornered IRA men and sympathisers. Their intelligence moles had burrowed so deep into the IRA they were within touching distance of Collins. His own intelligence people had compiled a list of thirty-five suspected British agents and spies to be eliminated. This operation wasn’t just a dramatic statement of war. They were fighting for survival.

         The bells of St Stephen’s Church near Mount Street would soon toll. Vinny Byrne led McDonnell, Ennis and the others towards 38 Upper Mount Street. Byrne was nineteen and already a veteran of the Easter Rising. Having Tom Ennis there made him uneasy. Ennis was older than Byrne and carried a more senior rank in the IRA, but for the business at hand, Byrne had been chosen to lead.

         Other things made Byrne edgy. His first-aid man made him nervous – he was older than everyone else and didn’t carry a gun. 36Byrne asked if he had brought enough bandages.

         ‘I have nothing,’ he replied.

         ‘Did you not hear the instructions I gave last night?’ asked Byrne.

         ‘I did,’ said the first-aid man, ‘but I couldn’t find a thing at home.’

         They diverted to a safe house on Denzille Lane seeking a first-aid kit. Jackie Dunne was home, but had nothing. Instead, he handed Byrne a revolver. Byrne pressed it into the hand of the first-aid man.

         ‘Here,’ he said. ‘That might be of some use to you.’

         They hurried to Mount Street. The church bells had already rung when they knocked on the door. A maid answered. Byrne asked where Lieutenants Peter Ames and George Bennett were sleeping. Collins’s information insisted both were spies. Further research suggested they could be the hub of the entire British intelligence operation in Dublin.

         Bennett was twenty-eight years old and had worked in intelligence in Holland during the Great War. He had befriended Ames at Kidd’s Back, a bar near Grafton Street. Ames had been born in America and survived gassing during the war before an attack of trench foot invalided him out of active service. His engagement to Miss Millicent Ewing was announced in the New York Times that morning. Both men had moved to Mount Street the previous day.

         ‘Lieutenant Bennett sleeps in there,’ the maid said, pointing at the front parlour. ‘The other officer sleeps in the back room.’

         Ennis went to the back room and gently turned the handle. The door was locked. ‘You can get in by the back parlour,’ whispered the maid. ‘The folding doors are open.’

         They opened the doors. Ames went for a gun under his pillow. ‘Hands up!’ shouted one of the men. While Ames and Bennett were 37brought into the back bedroom, Johnny McDonnell stayed in the hallway with Sean Daly and a few others. Michael Lawless was outside on the street keeping watch, walking slowly towards the church before turning and wheeling back towards the open front door. He heard shots echoing from Lower Mount Street. Shortly afterwards he heard the heavy footsteps of a man running towards him. He glanced over his shoulder. The man was wearing a khaki-coloured uniform.

         Lawless kept on walking and passed the house, then turned around suddenly, pointing his gun at the soldier.

         ‘Don’t shoot!’ the soldier shouted.

         A man appeared at a window across the road. ‘What’s going on down there?’ he shouted. Lawless spotted a gun in his hand.

         ‘Get in from that window!’ Lawless shouted, grabbing the soldier and crouching behind him for cover. He fired a shot at the window.

         ‘Get up the steps and ring the bell,’ he told the soldier.

         Sean Daly opened the door. Lawless pushed the soldier through the hall and into another room. Vinny Byrne was in the back bedroom. Ames and Bennett stood on the bed, their backs turned. Hands against the wall. Byrne trained his gun on them.

         ‘The Lord have mercy on your souls,’ Byrne whispered. Then he shot them both.

         The noise rattled through the house like thunder. The maid broke down in tears. Byrne told the captured soldier to stay in the room for fifteen minutes while they made their escape. As they tried to leave, revolver fire from the window across the street peppered the front door and steps. They returned fire and bought enough time to get across Mount Street. Vinny Byrne’s first-aid man held up his gun. 38

         ‘Vinny,’ he said, ‘what will I do with this?’

         ‘Give it to me,’ replied Byrne, ‘and you make yourself scarce and away from us.’

         Everyone else made for the river. A boat was waiting with no one to row it. One man finally agreed to take them across. In a few minutes, McDonnell, Lawless and Maher were walking briskly back to Seville Place. Back home. Lawless and Maher disappeared into the city. McDonnell went home and took refuge that afternoon in a familiar place: the football field.

         
            [image: ]

         

         At one o’clock Monsignor Maurice Browne’s car pulled up at Portobello Bridge, Rathmines. The weekend was already full of news and activity. The Tipperary footballers were playing Dublin in Croke Park. A handful of neighbours at home in Grangemockler were on the team. Mick Kerrigan had visited Browne from Grangemockler that week, and travelled with him from his parish in Maynooth. Before he left home Kerrigan was told to bring his shorts and boots to Croke Park. Depending on numbers, Tipperary might need him.

         A police constable came to the car window. ‘Proceed into the city at your own peril,’ he said. The IRA were killing British spies and servicemen in their beds. Browne and Kerrigan parked the car, crossed the bridge and boarded a tram. All the talk on board was of the dead agents. By mid-morning the billboards had already blared the news across the city: fourteen British agents murdered by the IRA, many in their beds. Trucks of policemen and military hared 39through the streets. The families of servicemen, police and civil service people tied to British rule for their livelihoods poured into Dublin Castle for protection. When the steel gates were closed they crowded the street outside, pleading for refuge from the gunmen.

         The police had taken over the Mansion House, the seat of the Irish Dáil, an unofficial parliament established in January 1919 and populated by seventy-three Sinn Féin MPs who refused to take their seats in Westminster. If the Dáil was the face Irish republicans presented to the world, the IRA were its teeth, waging guerrilla war in the cities and across the countryside against the police, army and every instrument of British power.

         No person or position was safe. That Sunday morning the Lord Mayor of Dublin turned up at the Castle, looking for police protection. Some had heard that an officer inside the Castle had committed suicide on hearing about the killings. People on the tram wondered out loud: some said Dublin would be burned; others expected prominent Sinn Féin men to be taken out and shot. Whatever happened, the city would suffer.

         Browne and Kerrigan got off as the tram reached Sackville Street, and strolled up the hill towards Parnell Street, turning right for Barry’s Hotel. When they arrived the Tipperary team was togged out in their jerseys, white with a green hoop. With everyone present and fit, Mick Kerrigan was relieved of his duty to play. Monsignor Browne spotted Mick Hogan, his old neighbour, in the milling crowd.

         Mick Hogan flickered with excitement and news. Where to begin: maybe the train trip to Dublin the previous day, wrestling with British soldiers in the carriage before bullying them out of the train? Or Sean Hogan, the famous Tipperary IRA man, sitting 40at his kitchen table in Grangemockler the previous morning planning an attack on an RIC barracks near home and giving Mick despatches to take to Dublin, tucked in his shoe to avoid detection. Or his night in Dublin around the famed Monto with his teammate Tommy Ryan, having a drink in Phil Shanahan’s bar surrounded by whores and rebels and spies.

         Hogan was twenty-four. On Friday he had become Company Commander of the Grangemockler Volunteers. He knew of the killings that morning and spoke of different things with Browne and Kerrigan. But his mind was in Croke Park, thinking only of Dublin forward Frank Burke.

         Of all the famous names in Dublin the newspapers spoke about, none glittered and leapt from the pages like Burke’s. He won matches by himself. His name alone terrorised the opposition. After Browne and Kerrigan left for Croke Park, Hogan looked for Bill Ryan who had been picked to play at right-half-back, positioned in front of Hogan, who was at right-corner-back. Ryan had won Munster championships and played in an All-Ireland final. He was on the Tipperary team longer than Hogan. Marking Frank Burke might come easier to him.

         ‘Would you swap with me, Bill?’ Hogan asked.

         ‘I can’t,’ he replied.

         Ryan’s boots had been flung out the window of the train the previous day by a soldier. He had spent the rest of Saturday hunting out a new pair and walked the corridors of the hotel all night trying to soften them out, but they still didn’t fit right. They felt too loose on his feet. When it came to Frank Burke, Hogan would have to fend for himself. 41

         It was getting late. The team left Barry’s Hotel for Croke Park, mingling among the crowd like bright splashes of white in a great mass of brown and grey. A few miles away police and army trucks rattled out of barracks across the city. A boy sat in the crook of a tree at the corner of the ground above the heads of everyone, enjoying the finest view in the place. Another boy sat on the wall behind the goal. Croke Park was full. An aeroplane circled overhead and fired a flare. It was a rare thing for the crowd to see.

         The teams were on the field. Johnny McDonnell was in goals for Dublin. At the other end Mick Hogan stood beside Frank Burke, waiting for the first ball. A truck crested the canal bridge outside. Over a dozen trucks filled with Black and Tans and Auxiliaries stopped behind it.

         The men inside the trucks smelt stale from sweat and liquor. Their minds were clouded by anger and fear. They expected trouble in Croke Park. Some hoped for it. This was war without rules, waged against an invisible enemy on quiet country roads and dimly lit streets, nurtured in farmhouses and the hearts of once mild, modest men. Their orders were to search the crowd. The men checked their guns, leapt from the trucks and ran towards the gates. If Croke Park became a battlefield, conscience wouldn’t make cowards of them. 42
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            Politics and War, 1918–1920
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            Chapter 1

            The Boy with the Penny Package

         

         TIPPERARY, 1860–1919

         
            The first Hogans settle in Grangemockler. Patrick Hogan raises a family of footballers and rebels. Mick Hogan inherits a farm as the sky darkens over the country.

         

         GRANGEMOCKLER, TIPPERARY, JANUARY 1919

         The dark mornings in Aughvaneen were bitten with cold. Mick Hogan’s days were reset to the winter clock. The cows were in and the fields were empty. He sliced the heads off turnips to feed the animals. He dug potatoes. He skimmed the top grass and soil from a stretch of ground and dug a shallow trench to store mangold beets as animal fodder. When winter really took hold he collected the beets from beneath the soil and chopped them up.

         Some days he hacked back briars and brambles from the ditches. He cleared leaves and mud from the small drains that bordered 46his fields so the spring rainwater would flow better when it came. When the sun came out Mick did some ploughing, gently guiding the horse and plough in straight lines, stepping over the heftiest chunks of earth, leaving them to nature. A winter’s frost would break them down to nothing.

         Winter farming demanded patience. It made him accept the limitations of what could be done and wait for the weather to turn again in favour of the land. Ploughing was slow and hard when frost turned the ground to concrete until the beginning of spring. It was a strange thing about this place: when it got cold in nearby places, it snowed in Aughvaneen. When the weather felt milder everywhere else, there was a chill in the air around Hogan’s farm. The coach drivers travelling between Dublin and Cork swore the road between Ninemilehouse and Grangemockler was the coldest stretch of them all. Reason enough to stop in the village for a hot toddy.

         Home was a neat cottage with a kitchen and parlour, two bedrooms and a loft beneath a thatched roof, set against a clean, cobbled yard. It was barely twenty years after the Famine when Mick’s grandfather Dan Hogan came across a few fields from Hardbog to take on the farm a mile from Grangemockler. Their front door faced away from the road and the village. Little humps of countryside enveloped the cottage on all sides. A string of houses stretched out along the roadside protected it further from view. Tyrrell’s place was first. The Healys were next door. Power’s farm began at the end of Hogan’s yard. The farm fanned out around the house for seventy acres, stretching to the invisible border between Tipperary and Kilkenny. Some of the land was wet and boggy. Most of it fed their cows and provided a good living. 47

         When Dan died in 1886 his son Patrick continued the work on the farm. He married Margaret in 1894. Dan jnr was born the following year. Michael came in 1896. Kattie was born in 1901, followed by Tom in 1903. Margaret and Paddy came next and Mary was born in 1909. Two other daughters died. They mourned the children, placed them in God’s hands and concentrated on the living.

         The farm held its own through every season. One day a man in town was taking pictures. Patrick Hogan stood for a portrait. His eyes were dark and stern, almost entirely hidden beneath the shade cast by the rim of his bowler hat. His moustache was thick and black and perfectly trimmed. He wore a fine morning suit with a perfectly starched collar and a white shirt. He hung the picture on the wall of the parlour at home, a monument to the good health of his farm and his family, and the prosperity that allowed him to engage the services of this photographer.

         His children went to the small village school in Grangemockler where the pupils packed tightly into a couple of rooms. The infant class would gather around a fireplace or sit on the floor, slate boards on their laps, chalk in their hands. An older boy would guide each child’s hand in turn as they copied letters from a chart. When the slate was full they would spit on it, wipe the slate clean, and begin again.

         There were benches for half the pupils. The rest gathered in circles and semicircles chalked on the floor. In the middle of the circle the teacher would pivot around to face each child as they recited and read. For the semicircles, he erected a blackboard on an easel in front of them near the end wall.

         At the top of the room Maurice Browne, the schoolmaster, sat on a high stool, his bearded chin supported by his left hand, elbow on 48the desk. Although the school was always noisy and bright, Master Browne was strict. Boys were punished for mitching or missing homework, being late for roll call, telling lies, throwing stones, or anything else that fell into his definition of mischief.

         On Mick Hogan’s first day at school, his mother, Margaret, took him down to the village. Master Browne appointed his own son, Maurice jnr, to be Hogan’s minder for the day. ‘Mick looked lonely and bewildered,’ wrote Browne in his memoir. ‘Soon his eyes filled with tears. He cried out with trembling underlip: “Want to go home to see Da.” This refrain he kept up for some time like a robin redbreast, not varying his note.’

         Maurice tried to amuse him with marbles and a ball-frame. Mick kept sobbing. He opened a book and showed him pictures: Baa Baa Black Sheep, the old blind harper with his poor dog Tray. None of them staunched his tears.

         ‘Home to see Da,’ Mick said.

         Master Browne’s wife, Kate, ran a shop in the village. An outing seemed the only solution. Maurice jnr took Mick to visit and soon he was sampling sweets from every tin. As a special treat, Kate gave him a penny package; one in every five hundred penny packages contained a ticket that entitled the winner to a watch. Maurice saw Mick with his lucky dip, and wished it for himself.

         As the tears dried up and school became a familiar part of his routine, Mick grew to be a bright scholar. Maurice Browne remained a friend. Maurice’s brother, John, was even closer to Mick, and for years after, Kate cared for Mick Hogan like a kindly aunt, keeping an eye on the boy with the penny package.

         Mick’s brothers Tom and Dan had shown an academic potential 49that required a different kind of schooling. Word reached the Hogans of a progressive young teacher in nearby Windgap, versed in the latest methods of teaching maths, reading and English. The school was over the border in Kilkenny, five miles away by road but no distance from Hogan’s across the fields. Tom and Dan walked every day to Windgap and excelled at their studies. In time Tom would join the Christian Brothers. Dan earned a scholarship to fund his schooling and took exams to join the railway company. Perhaps they were wise to leave home: it wasn’t the country or the climate for crops. The corn just a few miles across the Kilkenny border in Callan always looked a different, healthier colour. Even the names of the townlands around Grangemockler suggested the land was harsh and infertile. Ballinruan: homestead of the moory place. Glenaskagh: glen of the whitethorn bushes. Cruan: hard place. Moin Cruadh: Hardbog. This was ground for grazing, not growing; small farms, not sprawling family ranches.

         Off in the distance to the west, Slievenamon hill loomed over the village. When a storm assailed the mountain it always exerted the last of its temper on Grangemockler. In winter it hung like a white backdrop on the horizon; in summer the sun glinting against the heather draped the mountain in a blue-grey veil. Boys and girls talked every summer about climbing it. People judged the weather from the mood of the mountain. Con Feehan was the village weatherman. When Con was asked for his thoughts on the prospects of rain or sun, he would delay his answer until after he’d walked to where he could get a clear view of Slievenamon.

         The countryside was everyone’s playground. The older boys in school went mitching along the River Lingaun, hiding in a small 50hut by the bank and catching trout by hand from the river or trapping them beneath the hollow rocks on the riverbed. They roasted the fish in a fireplace made from flat stones, and washed it down with the bottles of milk they brought to school every day.

         When the boys got caught they faced Master Browne. One day he sent Mikey Tobin out to fetch him some sally twigs, his cruellest instruments of punishment. They were a brutal product of nature, scything through the air like a whip. The boys held out their hands and braced themselves. The twigs whistled through the air and smacked against their palms, but snapped harmlessly on impact. The Master tried another sally. It also broke. Before delivering them, Mikey Tobin had notched the branches with his penknife. Master Browne stifled a smile. There would be no punishment that day, but no more handy jobs for the favoured Mikey Tobin.

         The rhythms of life were gentle and subtle through the seasons. Fr Phil Dooley was parish priest of the village. He was a tall, strong man, with a bright sense of humour and a contagious laugh. He wore thick-lensed glasses. Bushy mutton chops framed his face.

         When he walked for a while he rested on a stout stick, blowing out his cheeks as he strolled along. He always had a bag of sweets for children and spent many hours visiting the sick. People often told the story of Fr Phil and one dying man. After many hours at his bedside, Phil made to leave. ‘Goodbye now, Michael,’ he said. ‘I’ve brought you to the gates of Heaven.’ ‘Ah, Father Phil,’ the man replied, ‘don’t leave me at the gate.’

         When it came to gathering hay, setting vegetables and slaughtering animals, people came together in haggards, farmyards and kitchens to help one another. Dan Meagher was the man who salted 51pigs. People knew him better as a footballer. As he worked, he often stopped to talk tactics and players. No one ever objected.

         Nothing made Grangemockler buzz like football. Whether it was Tipperary or Grangemockler playing, the weeks before any big game were dominated by talk of the match. Every evening after the cows were driven home, milked and fed, boys and men would gather in the football field for practice. Every Sunday was dedicated to training and a match. The scene after mid-morning Mass was always the same: men quietly saying their prayers and eyeing the door, rushing home for potatoes, cabbage and pig’s head, then football.

         Grangemockler were known as the ‘ass and cart’ team for the way their supporters guided their carts in convoy to big matches in Carrick-on-Suir and nearby Clonmel. An old song captured the sight.

         
            
               One glorious fine morning on the thirteenth of May,

               To the sweet town of Carrick they started away.

               With horses and asses and good old Shank’s mare,

               They went for to witness a great contest there.

            

         

         Years before Mick Hogan’s time, players would set out for Clonmel and Carrick on foot and pick up a lift. In time wagonettes would charge players and supporters two shillings each for the round trip. Footballers occupied a special status in every house. One day Tom Cooney was walking back to Grangemockler after playing a game when the wonderful smell of bacon and turnips came floating over the ditch. He followed the smell across a field to a farmhouse and knocked on the door.
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